RECEIVED

Oct 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

The STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Honorable David P. Caraker Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-000445

Sam Investment Properties, LLC, n/k/a

Archangel Investments, LLC,..... Respondent,

v.

Stephanie Hatton and Brandon Deubell,..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephanie Hatton Brandon Deubell
2379 Clandon Dr.,
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29579
(843) 780-0299 (843) 213-8262
Appellants' Pro Se

Jay G. Anderson
4447 Highway 17 Bus., Suite 101
P.O. Box 969
Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576
(843) 545-6001
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Rent (\$1,300 Award)

- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent when Appellants' vacated by July 3, 2022, before any default, terminating the lease?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent when the June 2022 eviction, with paid June rent, rendered July non-payment impossible?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent when re-rental proceeds and repair damages fully mitigated losses, and the award duplicates recovery?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent when the landlord's discretionary June 2022 eviction absolved Appellants' of future rent obligations?

II. AC/Heater Unit (\$495.72 Award)

- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding Respondent \$495.72 for the replacement of one Koldfront AC/heater unit when the Respondent's witness provided inconsistent and unreliable testimony about the unit's condition, contradicted by a photo showing only normal wear and tear?
- Did the Circuit Court err in relying on the Respondent's witness testimony over objective photographic evidence that demonstrated the AC/heater unit exhibited only minor cosmetic wear, consistent with normal wear and tear, and not functional defects?
- Did the Circuit Court err in finding that one AC/heater unit's temperature could not be adjusted when both parties agreed the unit was functional and the Respondent's witness conceded that only one button "didn't work properly," without evidence of impaired temperature adjustment?

- Did the Circuit Court err in holding the Appellants' liable for replacement costs of the AC/heater unit, which was essential to habitability due to the Respondent's refusal to repair the central HVAC system, in violation of the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding damages based on an advertisement estimate without a receipt or canceled check to substantiate actual replacement costs, contrary to South Carolina law requiring proof of damages with reasonable certainty?
- Were the Circuit Court's findings clearly erroneous and unsupported by any evidence, warranting reversal, when the record shows the AC/heater unit was functional, exhibited normal wear and tear, and the Respondent failed to prove actual damages or comply with its statutory obligations?

III. Painting and Cleaning (\$1,800 Award)

- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding Respondent \$1,500 for painting and \$300 for cleaning when substantial evidence shows the apartment's deteriorated condition, including mold, warped walls, and filth, pre-existed Appellants' tenancy and was not caused by tenant damage, violating S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(a)?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding Respondent \$1,500 for painting and \$300 for cleaning based on Respondent's uncorroborated claim of cat urine odor, when three credible witnesses testified to the apartment's clean condition and absence of odor, violating S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(a)?
- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding Respondent \$1,500 for painting and \$300 for cleaning, as both awards rely on non-itemized invoices not disclosed until trial, lack

credible evidence under the “any evidence” standard, include un-awarded and double-billed charges, and prejudiced Appellants’, violating S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(a) (b)?

- Did the Circuit Court err in awarding Respondent \$1,500 for painting when Respondent’s failure to maintain the HVAC system under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-440(a)(4) and the lease agreement contributed to the alleged odor, negating tenant liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410(a)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a debt collection action following the eviction of Appellants’ Stephanie Hatton and Brandon Deubell from a rental property owned by Respondent Sam Investment Properties, LLC, n/k/a Archangel Investments, LLC. The action commenced on December 20, 2022, in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas, Case No. 2022-CP-26-08003 (R. pp. 3-5), seeking unpaid rent, property damages, following Appellants’ eviction from a rental property in North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. Appellants' denied liability, filing their answer to complaint, January 19, 2023, (R. p. 6). Respondent then filed a "Reply to the counter claim" filed on February 15, 2023 (R. pp. 7-8), denying allegations and denying in part and admitted in part to the answer to complaint.

Following a bench trial on January 27, 2025 (R. pp. 9-14), the court awarded Respondent \$2,030.72, in damages after security deposits, (including \$1,300 for July 2022 rent, \$495.72 for one AC/heater unit, and \$1,500 for painting plus \$300 for cleaning), and \$7,050 in attorney’s fees. The case was decided by the Honorable David Caraker. Appellants’ appeal the \$1,300 rent award, \$495.72 AC/heater award, the \$1,500 painting award, and \$300.00 cleaning award, arguing the awards are clearly erroneous, unsupported by evidence, and violate the SRLTA. The appeal is from the final judgment issued on February 4, 2025. The notice of appeal

was served on March 4, 2025 (R. pp. 15-16). There have been no changes to the parties by death, substitution, or otherwise.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law tried without a jury, this Court reviews the trial court's factual findings for clear error, upholding them if supported by any evidence. *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 85–86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). The appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that the findings lack evidentiary support. *Id.* at 87, 221 S.E.2d at 776. Questions of law, including statutory interpretation and the application of legal principles, are reviewed de novo, with no deference to the circuit court's conclusions. *Elder v. Gaffney Ledger*, 341 S.C. 108, 113, 533 S.E.2d 899, 901 (2000). Evidentiary rulings, including the admission of invoices and receipts, are reviewed for abuse of discretion, reversing only if the trial court's decision was unsupported by evidence or controlled by an error of law. *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (2010).

I. Rent (\$1,300 Award)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants' entered a residential lease agreement with the Respondent for a property in Horry County, South Carolina, effective April 1, 2020, to March 21, 2021, at \$1,050 per month, subsequently renewing the lease agreement on April 1, 2021, to March 31, 2022, at \$1,100 per month, and finally, renewed it again on April 1, 2022, to March 31, 2023, at \$1,300 per month with rent due on the first day of each month and payments postmarked by the fifth day to avoid default, per the lease and addendum (R. pp. 93, 101-102). Appellants' paid rent for April through June 2022, totaling \$3,900 (R. p. 21, lines 11-14). The lease is governed by

the South Carolina Residential Landlord and Tenant Act (SCRLTA) (R. p. 93, para. 1), requiring a five-day notice for non-payment, making July rent not late until around July 6, 2022 (S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710(B) (2024)). Magistrate Court closures around the July 4, 2022 holiday, (July 1st a Friday with July 4th being a Monday), likely restricted non-payment trials from July 1–5, 2022, as the Fifteenth Circuit and Family Court were closed on July 4th (R. p. 125). A receipt shows work on or before July 5th, thus supporting a trial before July (R. p. 111). In June 2022, the Respondent initiated eviction proceedings, and Appellants' vacated the property by July 3, 2022, within the five-day post-eviction period, as testified by the Respondent's property manager, Seabrook, who noted vacating on the "third day" of the writ (R. p. 21, lines 3-7). Seabrook's testimony lacked specific dates, vaguely referencing "July," rendering her claim of July rent non-payment irrelevant, as July rent was not due until July 1 and not late until around July 6. Stephanie, an appellant, testified to vacating by 4:58 p.m. on the Court-ordered deadline, leaving the key and cleaning the apartment, with Seabrook texting at 8:00 p.m. to confirm key location (R. p. 83, lines 4-20). James Hatton corroborated the July 3, 2022, move-out, noting screens were intact when they left (R. p. 35, lines 9-11). A repair receipt dated July 5, 2022, indicates the Respondent began repairs after Appellants' vacating (R. p. 111), and Seabrook testified repairs followed a vacating period because "we can't repair while damage is being done" (R. p. 36, lines 23-24). The Respondent sought damages for 27 items listed on an invoice (R. pp. 117-119, (27 Items)), and the circuit court awarded damages for 11 items, totaling \$2,030.72 (R. pp. 12-13). The Respondent produced an unsigned vacate or show cause document, lacking a specific date (R. p. 104), and an unsigned, undated writ of ejectment in Lease Exhibits, introduced as containing only the lease and addendums

(R. pp. 104-106). These forms, citing \$1,300 unpaid rent and lease violations (e.g., excess pets), were undisclosed during testimony and lack legal weight. The lease had nine months remaining from July 2022 to March 2023, totaling \$11,700 in rent obligation (R. p. 21, lines 11-13; R. p. 24, lines 22-23). The Respondent re-rented the property from August 1, 2022, at \$1,500 per month for eight months, generating \$12,000 (R. p. 30, lines 2-11; R. p. 33, lines 15-16) James Hatton testified seeing furniture and people on the porch on July 7, 2022, (R. p. 59, lines 24-25; R. p. 60, lines 1-5) suggesting earlier re-rental or preparation, with Respondent’s counsel, Anderson, questioning if it could be repairmen or neighbors, which Hatton rejected, opining the Respondent was “utilizing the apartment and still trying to charge rent” (R. p. 62, lines 1-25; R. p. 63, lines 1-25). No re-rental expenses, such as advertising or broker fees, were claimed. The Circuit Court awarded the Respondent \$2,030.72, comprising \$1,300 for July 2022 rent, finding non-payment in July 2022, and \$730.72 for physical damages (R. pp. 12-13). Appellants' appeal, arguing the lease terminated upon eviction, re-rental proceeds and repair damages mitigated all losses, Seabrook’s non-payment claim is irrelevant, and the July rent award duplicates recovery.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 Rent, as Appellants' Vacated by July 3, 2022, Before Any Default, Terminating the Lease.

The Circuit Court’s \$1,300 award for July 2022 rent non-payment, based solely on Seabrook’s testimony, is erroneous, as Appellants' vacated by July 3, 2022, before any default on July rent, terminating the lease and any rent obligation. Seabrook testified Appellants' vacated by the “third day” of a five-day post-eviction period (R. p. 21, lines 2-5), vaguely referencing “July” without a specific eviction hearing date. Her claim of July rent non-payment is irrelevant, as July rent

was due July 1, 2022, per lease Paragraph 5, with payment postmarked by July 5 to avoid default, and not late until after a five-day notice period (around July 6), per S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710(B) (2024). Stephanie Hatton confirmed vacating by 4:58 p.m. on the court-ordered deadline, cleaning the apartment and leaving the key, with Seabrook texting at 8:00 p.m. to confirm (R. p. 83, lines 4-20). James Hatton corroborated the July 3 move-out, noting intact screens (R. p. 49, lines 9-11). A July 5 repair receipt (R. p. 111) and Seabrook's testimony that repairs followed vacating (R. p. 36, lines 23-24) align with a June 2022 trial, as a five-day writ ending July 5 per S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-100 (2024) implies issuance around June 30, requiring a trial by June 27–29. Magistrate court closures around the July 4, 2022, holiday (July 1 a Friday, July 4 a Monday) likely restricted non-payment trials from July 1–5, 2022, making a July trial implausible. The Respondent's unsigned, undated vacate or show cause order and writ of ejectment, included in Exhibit 1 without disclosure as lease documents (R. pp. 104-106), cite \$1,300 unpaid rent and lease violations but lack authentication under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710 and § 27-37-100 (2024), failing to establish an eviction timeline. With rent due July 1 and not late until around July 6, vacation by July 3 ended the tenancy before non-payment could occur. In *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, 141 S.C. 251, 260–263, 139 S.E. 614, 618–619 (1927), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that eviction terminates a lease, limiting recovery to pre-termination rent or actual damages. Appellants' paid April–June rent (R. p. 21, lines 11-13), owing no pre-termination rent. Seabrook's vague and irrelevant testimony, the invalid forms, and court closures are outweighed by evidence of a June trial and vacation by July 3. The Circuit Court's finding of a July 2022 eviction for non-payment (R. p. 10, para 2) is clearly erroneous, as the lease terminated by July 3, precluding any July rent obligation.

II. The Circuit Court Erred in Awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 Rent, as the June 2022 Eviction Was Not for Non-Payment, Rendering July Non-Payment Impossible.

The Circuit Court erred in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent, as the eviction occurred in June 2022, not for non-payment, rendering a July non-payment claim impossible. Seabrook testified Appellants' vacated by July 3, 2022, within five days post-eviction (R. p. 20, lines 18-25; R. p. 21, lines 1-7), but offered no precise eviction date, vaguely stating “July.” Her claim of July rent non-payment is irrelevant, as July rent was due July 1, 2022, per lease Paragraph 5, with payment postmarked by July 5, and not late until around July 6, after a five-day notice (S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710(B) (2024)). Appellant Stephanie Hatton’s testimony of vacating by 4:58 p.m. on the court-ordered deadline (R. p. 83, lines 4-20), and James Hatton’s corroboration of the July 3 move-out (R. p. 49, lines 9-11) support a June trial, as a five-day writ ending July 5 per S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-100 (2024) implies issuance around June 30. Court closures around the July 4, 2022 holiday, July 1st a Friday and July 4th a Monday, likely restricted non-payment trials from July 1–5, 2022, making a July trial impossible. Respondent’s counsel, Anderson, questioned Hatton about July 7, 2022, stating, “after your daughter was evicted from the apartment, you said you went by the apartment the following week,” (R. p. 62, lines 12-23) with Hatton noting furniture and people, rejecting repairmen or neighbors and opining the Respondent was “utilizing the apartment and still trying to charge rent” (R. p. 62, lines 24-25; R. p. 63, lines 1-11). This suggests a June trial, as the landlord regained possession by July 7, consistent with a June 30 writ.

The Respondent’s unsigned, undated vacate or show cause order, included in Exhibit 1 without testimony disclosure (R. p. 104), lacks the signature and date required by S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-20 (2024) for issuance of a valid ejectment order, rendering it inadmissible for lack

of authentication (S.C. R. Evid. 901). The unsigned, undated writ of ejectment fails to meet the signature and date requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-100 (2024), providing no evidence of a July 2022 eviction (R. pp. 105-106). A July 5 repair receipt (R. p. 111) and Seabrook's testimony that repairs followed vacation (R. p. 36, lines 23-24) further imply a late June eviction. Seabrook confirmed June rent was paid (R. p. 21, lines 11-14), so the eviction was not for non-payment, but for other reasons. In *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, 141 S.C. 251, 260–263, 139 S.E. 614, 618–619 (1927), eviction terminates the lease, limiting recovery to pre-termination amounts. With June rent paid (R. p. 21, lines 11-12) and vacation by July 3 (R. p. 21, lines 4-5), no July rent obligation arose. The Circuit Court's finding of a July 2022 eviction for non-payment (R. p. 10, para. 2) is clearly erroneous, as Seabrook's irrelevant testimony, Anderson's questioning, court closures, and invalid forms support a June 2022 eviction with paid June rent, making July non-payment impossible.

III. Even if the lease was not terminated in June, the \$1,300 award is erroneous, as re-rental proceeds fully mitigated all rent losses after eviction, and the award results in impermissible double recovery.

The Circuit Court erred in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent, as (A) the Respondent's re-rental proceeds fully mitigated all post-eviction rent losses, including the July period, per *U.S. Rubber Co. v. White Tire Co.*, 231 S.C. 84, 95, 97 S.E.2d 403, 408–409 (1956); (B) the June 2022 eviction terminated the lease, negating future rent obligations, under *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, 141 S.C. 251, 139 S.E. 614 (1927); and (C) the \$1,300 award constitutes double recovery, as re-rental proceeds and repair damages exceed the lease obligation, violating *Collins Entertainment Corp. v. Coats & Coats Rental Amusements*, 355 S.C. 125, 584 S.E.2d 120 (Ct. App. 2003), and S.C. Code Ann. §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50 (2024).

A. Full Mitigation Under U.S. Rubber.

The lease dated April 2022 to March 31, 2023 at \$1,300/month (R. p. 104, para. 6) had nine months remaining post-eviction for July 2022–March 2023, totaling \$11,700, ($\$1,300 \times 9$) (R. p. 21, lines 11-13). The Respondent re-rented the property from August 1, 2022, at \$1,500/month for eight months, generating \$12,000 (R. p. 33, line 16). James Hatton testified to furniture and people on the porch on July 7, 2022, suggesting re-rental preparation, rejecting Respondent’s counsel Anderson’s suggestion of repairmen or neighbors and opining the Respondent was “utilizing the apartment and still trying to charge rent” (R. p. 62, lines 12-25; R. p. 63, lines 1-6). In *U.S. Rubber Co.*, the Supreme Court held that a landlord’s damages are the difference between remaining rent (\$11,700) and re-rental proceeds (\$12,000), plus reasonable expenses. 231 S.C. at 95, 97 S.E.2d at 408-409. The Respondent was awarded \$2,030.72 for 11 of the 27 claimed invoice items, one being rent for \$1,300.00 (R. pp. 117-119; R. pp. 12-13). The \$12,000 proceeds exceed the \$11,700 obligation by \$300, negating all rent damages, including for July, regardless of repair work, as U.S. Rubber credits re-rental across the lease term. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-730(c) (2024) mandates crediting re-rental proceeds against tenant liability. The Respondent presented no evidence of re-rental expenses, and the \$12,000 re-rental proceeds fully mitigate the \$11,700 lease obligation, including July 2022 rent, rendering the \$1,300 rent award duplicative.

B. Lease Termination Under *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*.

The June 2022 eviction terminated the lease, negating July rent obligations. In *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, the Supreme Court held that a landlord’s eviction terminates the lease, limiting recovery to pre-termination rent or actual damages, stating, “After the termination of the lease by

the landlord, the tenant’s obligation for rent ceases.” 141 S.C. at 260, 139 S.E. at 618.

Appellants' vacated by July 3, 2022, before July rent default (Lease due July 1, late ~July 6; R. p. 93, para. 6), as testified by Seabrook (R. p. 20, lines 21-25; R. p. 21, lines 1-5), Appellant Stephanie Hatton, and James Hatton (R. p. 47, line 25; R. p. 48, lines 1-9; R. p. 49, lines 9-11). The Respondent’s unsigned vacate order and writ lack legal weight under S.C. Code Ann. § 27-37-100 (2024) (R. pp. 104-106). Court closures around July 4, 2022, confirm a June trial. June rent was paid (\$3,900, R. p. 21, lines 11-14), owing no pre-termination rent. The circuit court’s July non-payment finding (R. p. 10, para. 2) is clearly erroneous, as the lease ended in June, per *Simon*, 141 S.C. at 260–263, 139 S.E. at 618–619.

C. Double Recovery Violates Collins Entertainment and §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50.

The \$1,300 July rent award constitutes double recovery, as re-rental proceeds fully compensated the Respondent, violating *Collins Entertainment Corp. v. Coats & Coats Rental Amusements*, 355 S.C. 125, 137, 584 S.E.2d 120, 126 (Ct. App. 2003), and S.C. Code Ann. §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50 (2024). Collins Entertainment held that a party “cannot collect double recovery ... for actual damages which are coextensive.” § 27-40-50(a) limits remedies to “actual damages,” and § 27-40-30 bars unjust enrichment. The Respondent re-rented for \$12,000, exceeding the \$11,700 obligation by \$300 (R. p. 50, lines 11-20), and received \$730.72 damages (R. pp. 12-13 (11 Items)). James Hatton’s testimony of July 7 activity suggests possession for re-rental or use (R. p. 59, lines 17-25; R. p. 60, lines 1-5). Adding \$1,300 rent creates a \$1,600 windfall,

Re rental \$12,000

Minus

Remainder of lease, July included \$11,700
 Profit \$300.00
 Plus
 Award July, again \$1300.00 Double Recovery
 Total windfall \$1,600

as the Respondent was compensated for July rental, awarding the \$1,300.00 violated the mitigation duty implicit in § 27-40-50. Even if July was un-rentable due to repairs, *U.S. Rubber*, 231 S.C. at 95, 97 S.E.2d at 408-409, and S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-730(c) credit re-rental proceeds across the term, and covers July’s use. The \$1,300 award violates *Collins Entertainment* and §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50, and must be reversed.

D. Circuit Court’s Error.

The Circuit Court’s \$1,300 award (R. p. 13) ignored mitigation (*U.S. Rubber*, 231 S.C. at 95, 97 S.E.2d at 408-409), termination (*Simon*, 141 S.C. at 260–263, 139 S.E. at 618–619), and double recovery (*Collins Entertainment*, 355 S.C. at 137, 584 S.E.2d at 126; §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50). Seabrook’s vague testimony, invalid forms (R. pp. 104-105), and court closures, July 4th, fail to prove a July eviction. Anderson’s questioning and James Hatton’s testimony of July 7 activity (R. p. 59, lines 17-25; R. p. 60, lines 1-5) support a June eviction and early mitigation. The Respondent re-rented for \$12,000 and received rent for any repair work in July (R. pp. 12-13), nullifying July rent liability. The \$1,300 award is clearly erroneous.

IV. The Circuit Court Erred in Awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 Rent, as the Landlord’s Discretionary Termination in June 2022 Absolved Appellants’ of Future Rent Obligations, and Double Recovery Bars Recovery.

The Circuit Court erroneously awarded \$1,300 for July 2022 rent because the landlord’s

discretionary termination in June 2022 ended Appellants' future rent obligations, and the \$1,300 award duplicates recovery given re-rental proceeds and repair damages. The lease allows discretionary termination: "If Tenant does not pay rent within five days of the due date, Landlord can start to have Tenant evicted and may terminate the Rental Agreement" (R. p. 93, para. 6), and for noncompliance, "the Landlord may terminate the rental agreement" after notice (R. p. 97, para. 23), without a post-termination damages clause. In *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, 141 S.C. 251, 260–263, 139 S.E. 614, 618–619 (1927), the Supreme Court held that discretionary termination absolves tenants and are not liable for future rent, stating, "After the termination of the lease by the landlord, the tenant's obligation for rent ceases," 141 S.C. at 260, 139 S.E. at 618. The landlord evicted Appellants in June 2022, before July rent was due (July 1, late ~July 6), as evidenced by vacation by July 3, 2022 (Seabrook Test., R. p. 20, lines 18-25; R. p. 21, lines 1-7; James Hatton, R. p. 49, lines 10-11) (R. p. 59, lines 17-25), and a June trial implied by court closures. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710(B) (2024) permits termination for nonpayment after notice, but premature eviction ended the tenancy, per *Simon* and S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-750 (2024). June rent was paid (R. p. 21, lines 11-13).

The landlord could have issued a 14-day notice to remedy violations (e.g., pets, R. p. 97, para. 23; R. p. 98, para. 28) or sued for one month's rent (\$1,300) under Lease Paragraph 23 and S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-710(A), (C) (2024), preserving the lease. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-410 (2024) limits recovery to accrued rent post-termination, not future rent after possession is regained (R. p. 21, lines 1-5; R. p. 49, lines 9-11). The Respondent re-rented for \$12,000, exceeding the \$11,700 obligation (R. p. 30, lines 5-11), and received \$2030.72 for 11 repair damages including rent for one month of \$1,300.00 (R. pp. 12-13 (11 Items)) James Hatton's July 7 activity testimony suggests early mitigation (R. p. 59, lines 17-25; R. p. 60, lines 1-5). *U.S. Rubber Co. v.*

White Tire Co., 231 S.C. 84, 95, 97 S.E.2d 403, 408-409 (1956), and S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-730(c) credit re-rental proceeds across the term, negating rent damages regardless of July repairs. The \$1,300 award duplicates recovery, as re-rental and repair damages compensate the Respondent, violating *Collins Entertainment Corp. v. Coats & Coats Rental Amusements*, 355 S.C. 125, 137, 584 S.E.2d 120, 126 (Ct. App. 2003), and S.C. Code Ann. §§ 27-40-30, 27-40-50 (2024). The Circuit Court’s award (R. p. 10, para. 2) is clearly erroneous.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court erred in awarding \$1,300 for July 2022 rent, based on Seabrook’s vague testimony mischaracterizing a July 2022 eviction (R. p. 10, para. 2). Appellants’ vacated by July 3, 2022, after a June eviction, terminating the lease before July rent default (due July 1, late ~July 6), per *Simon v. Kirkpatrick*, 141 S.C. 251, 260–263, 139 S.E. 614, 618–619 (1927) (Points I–II, IV). Court closures, testimony of July 3 move-out (R. p. 20, lines 18-25; R. p. 21, lines 1-7; R. p. 49, lines 10-11), and Anderson’s questioning confirming possession by July 7 (R. p. 62, lines 12-25; R. p. 63, lines 1-6) prove a June eviction. Seabrook’s testimony and unsigned forms fail to prove a July eviction (R. pp. 104-105). Re-rental proceeds of \$12,000 fully mitigated the \$11,700 obligation, July included, and the \$1,300 award duplicates recovery, violating *U.S. Rubber Co. v. White Tire Co.*, 231 S.C. 84, 95, 97 S.E.2d 403, 408-409(1956), *Collins Entertainment Corp. v. Coats & Coats Rental Amusements*, 355 S.C. 125, 137, 584 S.E.2d 120, 126 (Ct. App. 2003).

II. AC/Heater Unit (\$495.72 Award)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Katy Seabrook, the property manager, claimed two Koldfront AC/heater units (model WAC8001W) (R. p. 110) in the rental property were damaged and required

replacement, seeking \$991.44 for both units (R. p. 24, lines 5-12). Respondent presented an advertisement, not a receipt, showing the units' cost, which Seabrook admitted was "not a canceled check, just how much the ac's cost us" (R. p. 27, lines 22-24; R. p. 110). Appellant Pro Se Stephanie Hatton testified that the units were functional, exhibiting only "wear and tear on the front" (R. p. 28, lines 11-14), and questioned the lack of a receipt (R. p. 28, lines 11-14).