RECEIVED

Oct 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Appellate Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

David P. Caraker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-000445

Sam Investment Properties, LLC, n/k/a
Archangel Investments, LLC,Respondent,

v.

Stephanie Hatton and Brandon Deubell..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jay G. Anderson (S.C. Bar # 14295)
jga@jayanderson.com

ANDERSON LAW, LLC
4447 Highway 17 Business, Suite 101
Post Office Box 969
Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576
843/545-6001

Attorney for Respondent

INTRODUCTION AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On or about March 18, 2020, Stephanie Hatton and Brandon Deubell (“Appellants”) entered into a Residential Rental Agreement (“Agreement”) with Sam Investment Properties, LLC, n/k/a Archangel Investments, LLC (“Respondent”), property management agent for property located at 1702 Holly Drive, #201, North Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. (R. pp. 93-100). Addendums to this lease agreement changing or adding terms and conditions were signed by all parties on March 26, 2021 and February 1, 2022. (R. pp. 101 – 103).

Appellants breached the Agreement and were subsequently evicted from the property in June, 2022.

After the unit was vacated by Appellants, Respondent’s agent conducted an inspection and found the unit to be in disrepair. On December 20, 2022, Respondent filed a Summons and Complaint against Appellants for damages, rent, and attorney’s fees. (R. pp. 3-5). Appellants, appearing *pro se*, filed an Answer and Counterclaim on January 19, 2023. (R. p. 6). Respondent’s Reply to Counterclaim was timely filed on February 15, 2023. (R. pp. 7-8). Mediation held on December 14, 2023, resulted in an *impasse*.

On January 27, 2025, the case proceeded to trial, non-jury, before Circuit Court Judge David P. Caraker, Jr., in Horry County, South Carolina. Appellant Hatton was present and elected to proceed at trial *pro se*. Appellant Deubell was not present.

To document and substantiate their collection action, Respondent introduced at trial an itemized list of the damages and security deposit invoice that was sent, as is the standard course of business, to Respondents upon their move-out. A copy of this document was entered into evidence without objection. (R. pp. 46-47). Respondent’s agent testified at trial, after specifying

the damages, and entering into evidence proof of repair costs, that they were seeking damages (for cleaning, repairs, and one month's rent) in the amount of \$5,316.44, less the security deposit (\$1,050.00) and pet deposits (\$900.00), for total damages of \$3,366.44 plus attorney's fees. (R. p. 26).

On February 4, 2025, after taking the matter under advisement (R. p. 92), the Court entered a formal Verdict and Order awarding judgment for Respondent, to-wit: \$2,030.72 in damages and \$7,050.00 in attorney's fees for a total judgement of \$9,080.72. (R. pp. 9-14).

Appellant Hatton failed to raise any objections ruled upon during the trial. (R. pp. 17- 92).

Appellants failed to file a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the judgment once the Verdict and Order was issued.

Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on February 25, 2025. (R. pp. 15-16).

ARGUMENT

I. **APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL BY FAILING TO ENTER TIMELY AND SPECIFIC OBJECTION DURING THE TRIAL AT THE LOWER COURT.**

These issues presented by Appellants on appeal were not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered by the Court. "This Court will not consider a question which was neither presented to the trial court nor raised by an exception on appeal." *Centaur, Inc. v. Richland County*, 301 S.C. 374, 392 S.E.2d 165, 165 n 4 (1990) (citing *Knight v. Lee*, 262 S.C. 17, 202 S.E.2d 19 (1974)). "[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been

raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.’ *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). The South Carolina Court of Appeals is a Court of review – not re-litigation of the case. As made clear by the Supreme Court of South Carolina: “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep’t*. 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997). *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 300 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “Error preservation requirements are intended ‘to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.’” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (quoting *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E. 2d 716, 724 (2000)). Furthermore, Rule 103, S.C.R. Evid. ensures that evidentiary issues are properly raised and preserved during trial so that they can be reviewed by a higher court if necessary. Because the arguments (Argument I – IV, including subsections, of Appellants’ Initial Brief at pp. 10 - 37) were **never raised or ruled upon** by the circuit court, they have not been preserved for appeal and must be dismissed.

II. APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW THOSE ISSUES RAISED, BUT NOT EXPRESSLY RULED UPON BY THE CIRCUIT COURT BECAUSE THEY DID NOT FILE A MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND THE JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 59(E), SCRPC.

It is crucial to make a record to preserve the issue of appealability. To successfully preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must be: “(1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 302, 641 S.E.2d

903, 907 (2007) (quoting Jean Hoefer Toal, et. al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed. 2002)). In non-jury actions, a party aggrieved by the judgement has 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order to file the appropriate motion to reconsider or alter and amend judgement. Rule 59(e), SCRCP. Appellants' failure to raise any issues to the circuit court through the filing of a Rule 59(e) motion following the issuance of the Circuit Court's Order dated January 31, 2025, precludes Appellants from now arguing these issues for the first time on appeal and must be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, this appeal should be dismissed because Appellants *pro se* failed to preserve any issue for appellate review be it through objections at the trial or in the filing of appropriate post-judgement motions. Respondent respectfully requests this Court dismiss this appeal in its entirety.